## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AMERICAN OPTICAL CORP., et al.,

Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

WALTER R. SPIEWAK and BETTY J. SPIEWAK, et al.,

Appellees/Respondents.

Case Nos. SC08-1616 & SC08-1640

L.T. Case Nos. 4D07-405, 4D07-407

Consolidated With

AMERICAN OPTICAL CORP., et al.,

Appellants/Petitioners,

Case Nos. SC08-1617 & SC08-1639

v.

DANIEL N. WILLIAMS, et al.

Appellees/Respondents.

L.T. Case Nos. 4D07-143, 4D07-144 4D07-145, 4D07-146, 4D07-147,

4D07-145, 4D07-146, 4D07-147, 4D07-148, 4D07-149, 4D07-150, 4D07-151, 4D07-153, and 4D07-154

## **APPELLANTS/PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF**

### **STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS**

#### I. Background

This is an appeal from the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal invalidating, on constitutional grounds, the application of the Asbestos and Silica Compensation Fairness Act (the "ASCFA" or "Act") to Plaintiffs' claims. *Williams v. American Optical Corp.*, 985 So. 2d 23 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008).

Plaintiffs filed their complaints against Defendants between February 17, 1998, and February 20, 2004, alleging they had sustained various physiological changes in their lungs—but not alleging any impairment—as a result of exposure to Defendants' products. WR1:1; 17:3316, 33:6594, 55:10967, 75:14826, 91:18171, 113:22426, 134:26757, 149:29709, 179:35796, 197:39231; SR1:1; MR1:1. While their cases were pending, the Florida Legislature adopted the Act. Ch. 2005-274, Laws of Fla., *codified at* § 774.201 et seq., Fla. Stat. (2005).

The Act requires plaintiffs who claim non-malignant asbestos-related conditions to make a *prima facie* showing before trial that their health has been impaired as a result of asbestos exposure. § 774.204(2), Fla. Stat. (2005). This *prima facie* showing must include evidence of minimal impairment and a diagnosis by a "qualified physician" that the plaintiff suffers from a disease substantially caused by asbestos exposure. § 774.205(2). The Act provides that a court shall dismiss without prejudice the claim of any plaintiff who cannot make this *prima* 

*facie* showing, but the Act tolls any applicable statute of limitations until the plaintiff's health actually becomes impaired. §§ 774.205(2), 774.206(1).

The Florida Legislature adopted the Act to address a multitude of pressing concerns identified in the enacting bill's preamble. Specifically, the Legislature recognized that "millions of American workers and others" have been exposed to asbestos over the last 50 years. Ch. 2005-274, Laws of Fla. (preamble). Such exposure "has created a flood of litigation in state and federal courts that the United States Supreme Court . . . has characterized as an 'elephantine mass' of cases that 'defies customary judicial administration.'" *Id*.

The Legislature observed that "the vast majority of asbestos claims are filed by individuals who allege they have been exposed to asbestos and who may have some physical sign of exposure but who suffer no present asbestos-related impairment." *Id.* It also found that "the cost of compensating exposed individuals who are not sick jeopardizes the ability of defendants to compensate people with cancer and other serious asbestos-related diseases, now and in the future." *Id.* 

The Legislature cited reports and studies documenting "the inefficiencies and societal costs of asbestos litigation," including dozens of bankruptcies that deprived thousands of workers of jobs.<sup>1</sup> *Id.* It relied upon the RAND Institute's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> During the trial court proceedings, one of the defendants—ACandS, Inc. initiated federal bankruptcy proceedings. SR5:912. Between the jurisdictional and merits briefing stages of the proceedings in this Court, another defendant—TH

study, Asbestos Litigation Costs and Compensation; Joseph E. Stiglitz's study, The Impact of Asbestos Liabilities on Workers in Bankrupt Firms; Dr. Joseph Gitlin's report, Comparison of B Readers' Interpretations of Chest Radiographs for Asbestos Related Changes; and the Report to the House of Delegates from the American Bar Association Commission on Asbestos Litigation. Id.

The Legislature expressed concern that "the seriously ill too often find that the value of their recovery is substantially reduced due to defendant bankruptcies and the inefficiency of the litigation process." *Id.* At the same time, it was aware that "concerns about statutes of limitations may prompt claimants who have been exposed to asbestos or silica but who do not have any current injury to bring premature lawsuits in order to protect against losing their rights to future compensation should they become impaired." *Id.* 

Based on these findings and others, the Legislature determined that there exists "an overpowering public necessity to defer the claims of exposed individuals who are not sick in order to preserve, now and for the future, defendants' ability to compensate people who develop cancer and other serious asbestos-related and silica-related injuries and to safeguard the jobs, benefits, and savings of workers in this state and the well-being of the economy of this state." *Id.* 

The Act recites that it was intended to serve several purposes. First, it was

Agriculture & Nutrition, LLC—initiated federal bankruptcy proceedings. This brief is accordingly not filed on behalf of TH Agriculture & Nutrition, LLC.

intended to "[g]ive priority to true victims of asbestos and silica, claimants who can demonstrate actual physical impairment caused by exposure to asbestos or silica." § 774.202, Fla. Stat. (2005). Second, it was intended to "[f]ully preserve the rights of claimants who were exposed to asbestos or silica to pursue compensation if they become impaired in the future as a result of the exposure." *Id.* Third, the Act was intended to [e]nhance the ability of the judicial system to supervise and control asbestos and silica litigation." *Id.* Fourth, it was intended to "[c]onserve the scarce resources of the defendants to allow compensation to cancer victims and others who are physically impaired by exposure to asbestos or silica while securing the right to similar compensation for those who may suffer physical impairment in the future." *Id.* 

Finally, because the Act permits claimants to seek recovery if their health actually becomes impaired, the Legislature expressly stated that the Act did not impair vested rights because it "preserves the rights of all injured persons to recover full compensatory damages for their loss." Ch. 2005-274, § 10. The Legislature likewise defined the Act as remedial "because it enhances the ability of the most seriously ill to receive a prompt recovery . . . ." *Id*.

#### **II.** Trial Court Proceedings

After the Act took effect, the trial court directed Plaintiffs to demonstrate compliance with the Act's *prima facie* showing requirements. *E.g.*,

WR202:40284-87, 205:40895-99. Plaintiffs admitted they could not do so. WR4:695, 20:3978, 37:7378, 61:11953, 80:15999, 96:19149, 139:27721, 154:30817, 186:37099, SR5:886; MR6:1092. They claimed the Act's impairment requirement could not be applied constitutionally to their cases, and they insisted they "should not have to needlessly waste . . . money and time" complying with the Act's *prima facie* showing requirements. 4DCA Ini. Brs., at 9-10.

Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' claims without prejudice on the ground that Plaintiffs had not satisfied the Act's *prima facie* showing requirements. WR4:743, 21:4019, 39:7708, 62:12223, 82:16326, 98:19465, 120:23878, 140:27864, 156:31164, 188:37426. The trial court conducted a hearing on Defendants' motions to dismiss with respect to 11 of the 13 Plaintiffs on November 3, 2006. Supp.R1:44044-103, 2:44104-107. During that hearing, these Plaintiffs again admitted they could not meet the Act's prima facie showing requirements. Supp.R1:44062. They contended the Act unconstitutionally changed what should be considered an injury, now requiring proof "of a certain amount of scarring . . . plus you're [sic] breathing capacity has to be diminished by a certain degree." Supp.R1:44070-71. Those Plaintiffs asserted that, under their view of "the common law," they would have had a claim prior to the Act's passage based on their x-ray readings. Supp.R1:44064. They relied upon oral anecdotes concerning one case their counsel had tried that did not result in any reported decision and two cases that were ultimately reported but did not address what constitutes a compensable injury. Supp.R1:44098-100.

The record contains x-ray readings, called "B-readings," and similar reports stating that x-rays of these 11 Plaintiffs indicated they may have lung abnormalities "consistent with" asbestos exposure. A15-25. However, as one of the doctors who graded Plaintiffs' x-rays admitted in a sworn affidavit, such readings alone are *not* diagnoses of asbestos-related disease. SR5:966-98; Supp.R1:44081-82. Thus, at the November 3, 2006 hearing, Plaintiffs' counsel referred to B-readings for various Plaintiffs but adduced no evidence establishing actual diagnoses of asbestos-related disease, except to say "I actually have a diagnosis for Mr. Martinez," but "[t]he reason I didn't file it, Judge, is it doesn't qualify under the statute so it doesn't really matter." Supp.R1:44067.

Ultimately, those 11 Plaintiffs adduced no evidence demonstrating they suffered from any actual impairment to their health. As Plaintiff Britt testified in deposition, he contacted Plaintiffs' counsel for legal representation not because he was sick but because he was concerned "[a]bout the future." Supp.R1:44103. He stated, "If you ever have any problems in the future, if things come on you years later and stuff like that, it would be good to have a law firm to help you out." *Id*.

On December 8, 2006, in separate detailed orders, the trial court dismissed those 11 Plaintiffs' claims without prejudice. WR17:3290, 33:6568, 55:10940,

74:14784, 91:18126, 112:22396, 134:26698, 149:29627, 179:35736, 196:39185, 220:43846. The court cited those Plaintiffs' admissions that they had not satisfied the *prima facie* showing requirements of section 774.204(2), which the Legislature expressly made applicable to all pending cases. *Id.* The court ruled that Plaintiffs had not shown that their claims had actually accrued due to a legally cognizable injury, and thus it was "unclear that Plaintiff[s] had a *vested* property right to pursue [their] claim[s] upon filing suit." *Id.* n.6. Instead, Plaintiffs "may have had a mere expectant property right that [they] would recover a judgment, if [they were] able to prove the facts alleged and if Florida law continued to permit recovery." *Id.* 

Further, the trial court determined that the Act's requirements were procedural in any event and thus the court concluded that retroactive application of the Act did not violate Plaintiffs' constitutional rights. Alternatively, the court ruled that even if some of the Act's requirements affected Plaintiffs' rights to due process and access to courts, the Act is nonetheless constitutional under the tests set forth in *Department of Transportation v. Knowles*, 402 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1981), and *Kluger v. White*, 281 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973).

On January 5, 2007, the same trial court held a similar hearing with regard to the remaining two Plaintiffs, Spiewak and Meyers. Those plaintiffs filed what they characterized as medical reports diagnosing them with "asbestosis." A22; A27.

But they admitted during the hearing that those "reports" were "not filed or prepared by a qualified physician under the terms of the Act." A42:535. Plaintiffs further admitted that this requirement was "procedural." *Id.* at 539. In addition, the physician who prepared those reports expressly disclaimed the existence of a doctor-patient relationship with these plaintiffs, A14, contrary to the requirements of section 774.203(23).

Relying upon unsworn materials their counsel submitted to the Legislature when it considered the Act, Spiewak and Meyers argued the Act imposed new substantive requirements they could not meet and was based on erroneous findings, but they adduced no evidence in support of their arguments. A42:534-75. The court repeatedly asked Plaintiffs to adduce admissible evidence to support their "assertions of fact," but Plaintiffs declined to do so. *Id*.

Thereafter, and consistent with its December 8 orders, the trial court dismissed the Spiewak and Meyers complaints without prejudice for failure to comply with the Act's *prima facie* showing requirements. SR15:2883; MR17:3361.

#### **III.** The Fourth District Appeals

All 13 Plaintiffs appealed the dismissal orders to the Fourth District. Before the district court, Plaintiffs' Initial Briefs challenged the constitutionality of only subsections 774.204(2)(e) and (f), contending that "[s]ince Appellants' injuries are

not considered injuries according to Fla. Stat. § 774.204(2)(e) or 774.204(2)(f), Appellants could not make a *prima facie* showing." *E.g.*, Williams Ini. Br., at 13. In their Reply Briefs, Plaintiffs stated that their challenge was to subsections 774.204(2)(d), (e), and (f), which relate to demonstrating impairment. *E.g.*, Williams Reply Br., at 1, 9, 14.

The first challenged provision requires "[a] determination by a qualified physician, on the basis of a medical examination and pulmonary function testing, that the exposed person has a permanent respiratory impairment rating of at least Class 2"—the minimum discernible impairment—"as defined by and evaluated pursuant to the [American Medical Association] Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment." § 774.204(2)(d).

The second challenged provision requires "[a] diagnosis by a qualified physician of asbestosis or diffuse pleural thickening, based at a minimum on radiological or pathological evidence of asbestosis or radiological evidence of diffuse pleural thickening." § 774.204(2)(e).

The third challenged provision requires "[a] determination by a qualified physician that asbestosis or diffuse pleural thickening, rather than chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, is a substantial contributing factor to the exposed person's physical impairment, based at a minimum on a determination that the exposed person has" diminished "total lung capacity" or "forced vital capacity" in

relation to "the predicted lower limit of normal" or a chest x-ray meeting certain minimal requirements. § 774.204(2)(f).

The Fourth District upheld Plaintiffs' challenge to these provisions and reversed the trial court's orders, consolidating all cases for purposes of its decision. Williams v. American Optical Corp., 985 So. 2d 23 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008). The district court held that a cause of action is a "form of intangible property" that cannot be taken without compensation, referencing the eminent domain provisions in the Florida Constitution without mention of the state's police power. Williams, 985 So. 2d at 25-26 & nn.4-5. The court then held, "[w]here a cause of action has accrued but claimant has not yet filed an action for damages when new legislation substantively affecting the cause of action becomes effective, the new statute may not be applied to the cause of action when filed." Id. at 28. The court said, the "question therefore devolves into an inquiry whether plaintiffs are correct in their assertion that before the statute was enacted Florida law recognized a cause of action for damages arising from the disease of asbestosis without any permanent impairment or the presence of cancer. Our research confirms their assertion." Id. On this basis, the court held the Act unconstitutional as applied to Plaintiffs.

In reaching this conclusion, the court relied on the Third District's decision in *Eagle-Picher Industries Inc. v. Cox*, 481 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), and on decisions by this Court approving *Eagle-Picher*. The district court interpreted these decisions as "establish[ing] that genuine emotional effects from contracting asbestosis are actionable under Florida law even though no physical impairment or cancer has resulted." *Id.* The court certified that its decision conflicted with the Third District's decision in *DaimlerChrysler Corp. v. Hurst*, 949 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007).

#### **IV.** Appeal to This Court

Defendants timely sought appellate and discretionary review in this Court. Defendants invoked the Court's mandatory appellate jurisdiction based on the Fourth District's invalidation of the Act on constitutional grounds as it applies to Plaintiffs' cases. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const. Defendants also invoked the Court's discretionary jurisdiction as a result of the Fourth District's certification of conflict with *Hurst*, express and direct conflict with the decision in *Department of Transportation v. Knowles*, 402 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1981), and the district court's express construction of the state constitution. Art. V, § 3(b)(3)-(4). The Court has accepted jurisdiction and consolidated the appellate and discretionary review proceedings from each case into this single proceeding.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In enacting the ASCFA, the Legislature crafted a remedial and procedural mechanism to ensure the fair and efficient management of asbestos claims that courts could not as effectively handle with conventional tools. To this end, the Act

requires claimants to produce, early in the proceedings, a diagnosis that their health has actually been impaired from a disease caused by asbestos, which they would have to be able to do at trial to obtain a recovery under prevailing common law standards. At the same time, the Legislature tolled all statutes of limitations for claimants who could not make this showing at the present time until such time, as ever, that they suffer impairment from an asbestos-related disease. This remedial and procedural scheme reasonably balances the interests of claimants who most urgently need relief in getting priority for their claims in court while protecting the rights of persons rushing into court prematurely due to fear of a time bar. The Act is a classic example of remedial and procedural legislation that does not impair substantive rights but provides for the effective and fair effectuation of such rights. As such, the Act may be applied to claims that were pending at the time of its enactment.

The Fourth District erred in holding that the Act impairs Plaintiffs' substantive rights. The Fourth District based its decision on the erroneous conclusion that the common law permits Plaintiffs to maintain a cause of action for asbestos-related disease without any impairment to their health. In fact, in Florida and other jurisdictions around the country, claimants who allege that they suffer from latent diseases must adduce evidence of actual impairment, not simply exposure, in order to obtain a recovery. The Act thus effectively codifies Florida

common law and imposes procedural, not substantive, requirements to help prioritize lawsuits for claimants able to demonstrate early in the proceedings that they may have cases ripe for adjudication.

In any event, the Act may be upheld as a valid exercise of the Legislature's police power. In *Knowles*, this Court held that due process protection of property is not absolute. Rather, this Court employs a balancing process to determine whether a statute may be applied retroactively. The Court considers the strength of the public interest served by the statute, the nature of the right affected, and the extent of any impairment to that right.

Taking into account all these considerations, the Act constitutes a valid exercise of the Legislature's authority. The Legislature adopted the Act to address an overpowering public necessity caused by the mass filing of asbestos-related claims by persons with no actual impairment. The Act does not abrogate or even diminish the value of valid or potentially valid claims. Instead, it provides an orderly procedure for the resolution of all claims, while strengthening the rights of all claimants.

Finally, the Legislature did not infringe upon Plaintiffs' right of access to courts. To the contrary, the Legislature acted to enhance access for persons whose claims have actually accrued while preserving all potentially valid claims by tolling applicable statutes of limitations for persons without present impairment.

Thus, the Act provides a reasonable alternative to the indiscriminate filing of premature claims. The Act also fairly addresses pressing public needs. The Act is carefully adapted to provide for the orderly management of asbestos-related claims and to afford priority to claims of persons who are actually impaired.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews *de novo* the Fourth District's ruling that the Act cannot be constitutionally applied to Plaintiffs' cases. *E.g.*, *Dep't of Children & Families v. F.L.*, 880 So. 2d 602, 607 (Fla. 2004). The Court must begin its review with a presumption that the statute is constitutional. *E.g.*, *Dep't of Revenue v. Howard*, 916 So. 2d 640, 642 (Fla. 2005). To overcome this presumption, Plaintiffs must demonstrate unconstitutionality beyond all reasonable doubt. *Crist v. Fla. Ass'n of Criminal Defense Lawyers, Inc.*, 978 So. 2d 134, 139 (Fla. 2008).

#### ARGUMENT

### I. THE ACT DOES NOT VIOLATE DUE PROCESS.

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