THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AMERICAN OPTICAL CORP., et al.

Case No. SC08-1616, SC-08-1640

Appellants/Cross-Petitioners,

v.

L.T. Case Nos: 4D07-405, 4D07-407

WALTER R. SPIEWAK, et al.,

Appellees/Cross-Respondents.

_____ /

Consolidated with

AMERICAN OPTICAL CORP., et al.,

Case Nos. SC08-1617 & SC08-1639

Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

DANIEL N. WILLIAMS, et al.,
144,

L.T. Case Nos. 4D07-143, 4D07-

4D07-145, 4D07-146, 4D07-147,
4D07-148, 4D07-149, 4D07-150,
4D07-151, 4D07-153, 4D07-154

Appellees/Respondents.

_____ /

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

James L. Ferraro, Esq.
David A. Jagolinzer, Esq.
Case A. Dam, Esq.
The Ferraro Law Firm, P.A.
4000 Ponce de Leon Blvd., #700

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

We have summarized the Argument in the Introduction.

VI. ARGUMENT

**THE ASBESTOS AND SILICA COMPENSATION
FAIRNESS ACT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN ITS
RETROACTIVE APPLICATION.**

The Defendants do not deny that the Statute is retroactive in its application. They sought and obtained the dismissal of pending claims. The U.S. Supreme Court said in *Landgraf v. USI Film Products*, 511 U.S. 244, 269-70 (1994), *quoted in Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corp.*, 737 So. 2d 494, 499 (Fla. 1999), that a statute is retroactive which “attaches new consequences to events completed before its enactment.” *Accord, Dade County v. Ferro*, 384 So. 2d 1283, 1285 (Fla. 1980); *City of Lakeland v. Catinella*, 129 So. 2d 133, 136 (Fla. 1961). In this case the operative event was the accrual of the Plaintiffs’ causes of action.⁸ Thus a statute is retroactive in its application to a pre-existing cause of action, whether the action has been filed or not. In the instant case, the Plaintiffs’ claims have all been filed.

As this Court recognized in *Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corp.*, 737 So. 2d 494, 499 (Fla. 1999), every retroactive statute

⁸See *Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Mancusi*, 632 So. 2d 1352, 1358 (Fla. 1994); *Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan*, 344 So. 2d 239, 243 (Fla. 1977); *Raphael v. Shecter*, 34 Fla. Law Weekly D1936 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 23, 2009); *Russell Corp. v. Jacobs*, 782 So. 2d 404, 405 (Fla. 1st DCA), *review denied*, 791 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 2001).

“implicate[s] due process concerns.”⁹ The Defendants have raised a number of disparate points in support of two arguments for upholding retroactive application of the Statute. We will group these points under those two arguments.

A. *The Plaintiffs Had a Pre-existing Cause of Action.* The Defendants argue (Brief at 21-33) that none of the Plaintiffs had a common-law claim before the Statute was enacted, because any such claim required proof of “impairment” (Brief at 21), which the Defendants define as nothing less than either mesothelioma (lung cancer) or some other form of cancer. The District Court held otherwise, acknowledging the Plaintiffs’ position that “before the statute was enacted Florida law recognized a cause of action for damages arising from the disease of asbestosis without any permanent impairment or the presence of cancer,” and holding that “[o]ur research confirms their assertion.” *Williams v. American Optical*, 985 So. 2d at 28. The District Court was correct.

Whether or not asbestosis or pleural thickening have led to cancer, they

⁹See *Eastern Enterprises v. Apfel*, 524 U.S. 498, 532-33 (1998); *Bowen v. Georgetown University Hospital*, 488 U.S. 204, 208 (1988); *Old Port Cove Holdings, Inc. v. Old Port Cove Condominium Ass’n One, Inc.*, 986 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Fla. 2008); *Raphael v. Shecter*, 34 Fla. Law Weekly D1936. See generally H. Broom, *Legal Maxims* 24 (8th ed. 1911); 2 N.J. Singer, *Statutes and Statutory Construction* §41:2, at 375 (6th ed. 2001); Annotation, *Retroactive Effect of Statute Which Imposes, Removes, or Changes a Monetary Limitation of Recovery for Personal Injury or Death*, 98 A.L.R. 2d 1105 (1964); Hochman, *The Supreme Court and the Constitutionality of Retroactive Application*, 73 Harv. L. Rev. 692 (1960).

nevertheless have physical effects, and cause significant physical impairment, including increasingly-debilitating shortness of breath and fatigue (*see* R. 2606, Ex. 9). These symptoms only get worse--never better. Given such serious physical consequences, before the Statute was enacted, Florida's courts recognized a cause of action to redress them.

As the Defendants note (Brief at 24-27), the District Court cited *Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc. v. Cox*, 481 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), *review denied*, 492 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 1986), which held that a plaintiff with "asbestosis, but not cancer," *id.* at 519--like most of the Plaintiffs here (two had pleural disease, which also supported an action)--had a viable claim notwithstanding the absence of any "impairment." The court in *Eagle-Picher* held that the physical manifestations of asbestosis alone satisfy Florida's impact rule (*see Gilliam v. Stewart*, 291 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 1974)), because "[t]he essence of impact . . . is that the outside force or substance, no matter how large or small, visible or invisible, and no matter that the effects are not immediately deleterious, touch or enter into the plaintiff's body." *Eagle-Picher*, 481 So. 2d at 527. The court held that asbestosis supports a claim for emotional distress because it constitutes "a chronic, painful and concrete reminder that [the plaintiff] was *injuriously exposed* to a substantial amount of asbestos." *Id.* at 529 (second emphasis added). When the plaintiff suffers pleural

disease, causing pleural thickening, or asbestosis, causing scarring, and resulting in worsening breathing difficulty and fatigue, his claim for emotional distress may be based on these consequences, even without cancer.

On the issue of damages, however, the court in *Eagle-Picher* disallowed part of the prayer. It did agree with the plaintiff that “in a case such as this where the plaintiff already had manifested the physical disease of asbestosis,” he may introduce “evidence that the plaintiff had an enhanced risk of contracting cancer,” in order to prove “present mental distress caused by his fear of getting cancer in the future” *Id.* at 529. (As noted, this element of damages was taken away by the Statute, §774.206(2)). However, the court also held that the plaintiff in such a case cannot recover additional damages based on the “enhanced risk of contracting cancer in the future,” *id.* at 519. Instead, “the plaintiff may bring a second action for damages if and when he actually contracts cancer.” *Id.* at 520. Thus, *Eagle-Picher* expressly recognized the right to sue for asbestosis alone, with no resulting cancer, although the claim cannot entail damages for the risk of cancer. *Accord*, *Landry v. Florida Power & Light Corp.*, 799 F. Supp. 94 (S.D. Fla. 1992) (Fla. law) (first action still viable for emotional distress), *aff’d*, 998 F.2d 1021 (11th Cir. 1993); *Wildenburg v. Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc.*, 645 F. Supp. 29, 30-31 (S.D. Fla. 1986) (Fla. law) (same); *W.R. Grace & Co.-Conn. v. Pyke*, 661 So. 2d 1301 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (allowing damages for pain and suffering, but reversing the

award for lost future earning capacity, of a plaintiff whose “asbestos-related disease was essentially mild and in the early stages”). *See also Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Ayers*, 538 U.S. 135 (2003) (action available under FELA).¹⁰

This Court approved *Eagle-Picher’s* holding on the impact rule in *Zell v. Meek*, 665 So. 2d 1048, 1050 n.1 (Fla. 1999). The Court noted its holding that “the inhalation of asbestos fibers, which over time causes serious lung damage, constituted an impact,” and found this “formulation . . . consistent with our own holdings.” The Court again cited this holding of *Eagle-Picher* in reaffirming *Zell*

¹⁰The Defendants say that the statement in *W.R. Grace* that the plaintiff had “mild” asbestosis “may be consistent with the Act’s requirement that plaintiffs demonstrate at a minimum a *prima facie* showing that they have the lowest level of impairment discernable by medical professionals” (Defendants’ Brief at 32-33). The exact opposite is true. A “mild” asbestosis, without any form of cancer, is exactly the pre-existing basis of liability that the Statute took away. In fact, we know that Earl Pyke did not have cancer, because his medical records are in the Record in *Spiewak* (*see Spiewak* District Court Brief, App. 20, 21, 22). These records also show that Mr. Pike could not satisfy the new statutory standard, because his Pulmonary Function Test (PFT) was below the cut-off, with only a 1/0 asbestosis rating, and his pleural thickening was A3 and not B2. This is similar to Mr. Spiewak’s medicals, and the Defendants got his claims dismissed.

The Defendants also take comfort in the holding of *W.R. Grace* that the plaintiffs had failed to prove their claim of lost income. But the court affirmed the damages for pain and suffering. Thus, *W.R. Grace* does hold “that a plaintiff can bring suit for asbestosis without impairment” (Defendants’ Brief at 33). It affirms an award for pain and suffering for “mild” asbestosis of a patient who did not have cancer.

v. Meek in *Willis v. Gami Golden Glades LLC*, 967 So. 2d 846, 85 (Fla. 2007).¹¹

In discussing *Eagle-Picher*, the Defendants repeatedly mischaracterize its holding--which was that a claim based on cancer was must await the development of cancer, but the pending claim based on asbestosis may proceed--as a broader holding that a plaintiff cannot maintain *any action* in the absence of a permanent disease.¹² At least four times, the Defendants erroneously attribute to *Eagle-Picher* the holding that *no* cause of action can be brought in the absence of a permanent disease like cancer, when in fact it held the opposite--that the scarring of asbestosis alone, or pleural thickening, which the Plaintiffs here suffer, will support a cause of action, although a second action may be available if the plaintiff develops cancer.

The Defendants also dismiss this Court's decisions in *Zell* and *Willis*. They

¹¹Comparable decisions on the impact rule include *Hagan v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co.*, 804 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 2001) (contaminated food); *R.J. v. Humana of Florida, Inc.*, 652 So. 2d 360, 364 (Fla. 1995) (invasive procedure of "caustic" or toxic medication, although touching by doctor or taking blood is not enough); *Clark v. Choctawhatchee Electric Co-op., Inc.*, 107 So. 2d 609 (Fla. 1958) (electric shock).

¹²*See, e.g.*, Defendants' Brief at 24 (*Eagle-Picher* "expressly held that actual physical injury from asbestos, not merely asbestos inhalation was required to maintain *an action*" (emphasis added); 25 (*Eagle-Picher* held that "the plaintiff could only *bring suit* for such damages later 'if and when he actually contracts cancer'" (emphasis added); 25 (*Eagle-Picher* held that a plaintiff "could not obtain damages for emotional distress until the plaintiffs *also* manifested actual physical injury") (emphasis in original); 27 ("[p]roperly understood, *Eagle-Picher* represents a sensible *limitation* on the assertion of *asbestos-related claims*") (first

note the Court’s recognition in *Zell* that the plaintiff there had suffered a “physical impairment,” 665 So. 2d at 1049, but ignore the Court’s suggestion that such an impairment is not necessary to support the action, in its quotation of *Eagle-Picher’s* statement that the impact rule is satisfied, and the cause of action is permitted, based on the “outside force or substance . . . no matter that the effects are not immediately deleterious” *Eagle-Picher*, 481 So. 2d at 527, *quoted in Zell*, 665 So. at 1050 n.1. As noted, the Court again endorsed that statement in *Willis*, 967 So. 2d at 850--an endorsement not diluted by either concurring or dissenting contentions that a greater impact should be required (*see Defendants’ Brief at 27-28*). Thus, this Court has twice endorsed the real holding of *Eagle-Picher*. That means that the Plaintiffs here did have a viable cause of action before enactment of the Statute.

The Defendants also find authority to the contrary in a decision of this Court concerning the statute of limitations in an asbestos case, and a concurring opinion on the choice-of-law considerations implicated in such a case. In *Celotex Corp. v. Copeland*, 471 So. 2d 533, 538-39 (Fla. 1985), which rejected a market-share theory of liability, and found an issue of fact on the commencement of the statute of limitations, the Court noted only that the plaintiff was unable to work because of

emphasis in original).

shortness of breath. *Id.* at 538-39. There is no indication that the plaintiff suffered cancer, and the Court did not suggest that any such impairment is a necessary condition of an asbestosis claim. In fact it held that for purposes of the statute of limitations, “the action accrues when the accumulated effects of the substance manifest themselves in a way which supplies some evidence of the causal relationship to the manufactured product.” *Id.* at 538. The Statute is triggered not, as the Defendants contend, by a permanent impairment, but only when the effects of exposure “manifest themselves” Here, for all Plaintiffs, those effects manifested themselves physically in the form of asbestosis, causing scarring, or pleural thickening, thus satisfying the impact rule.

In *Celotex Corp. v. Meehan*, 523 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 1988), cited by the Defendants, the Court applied Florida’s borrowing statute, §95.10, Fla. Stat., in holding that because the asbestos claim was time-barred in New York, where the decedent had lived, it could not be sustained in Florida. Justice Barkett dissented in part, on the ground that the cause of action had not arisen in New York by virtue of the decedent’s exposure to asbestos there, but rather at the time the “injury” (not permanent injury) “was first inflicted. . . .” *Id.* at 149. The opinion cited *City of Miami v. Brooks*, 70 So. 2d 306, 307 (Fla. 1954), holding that the statute does not run “until an occupational disease has manifested itself” It thus was the physical manifestation--not necessarily a permanent injury--that assertedly should

have triggered the statute of limitations. Thus, the opinion recognizes that “claims for asbestosis and cancer arising from the same exposure to asbestos are separate and distinct so that they may not be joined in a single action.” *Id.* at 150. It says that asbestosis is a “recognized disease.” *Id.* at 149. These statements reinforce the viability of claims based on asbestosis.¹³

On the basis of the foregoing, the Defendants are incorrect in asserting that these Plaintiffs, all of whom suffer asbestosis and/or pleural thickening (as measured by prior common-law standards), did not have a cause of action before enactment of the Statute. Although their damages might have been limited in the absence of cancer, they did have cognizable claims.

B. Retroactive Application of the Statute is Unconstitutional.

1. Retroactive Application of the Statute Is Not Defensible on the Ground That It Is Remedial or Procedural. The Defendants argue (Brief at

¹³The Defendants say (Brief at 30-32) that common-law asbestos claims in a few other states require a showing of impairment, and that the courts of other states have upheld statutes requiring such a showing. Of course they ignore the other 40-plus states that allow such claims. Moreover, these decisions have nothing to do with retroactivity, which is the issue before this Court. *Compare DaimlerChrysler Corp. v. Ferrante*, 637 S.E. 2d 659 (Ga. 2006) (invalidating retroactive application of asbestos statute). *See infra* pp. 32-33. Whether common-law actions in other states require a showing of permanent impairment is irrelevant to the nature of Florida’s pre-existing common-law cause of action. And decisions in other states upholding the facial constitutionality of statutes are irrelevant to the question of retroactivity.

15-21) that all provisions of the Statute are procedural or remedial, as opposed to substantive, and cite the general rule that “[r]emedial or procedural statutes do not fall within the constitutional prohibition against retroactive legislation” *Village of El Portal v. City of Miami Shores*, 362 So. 2d 275, 278 (Fla. 1978). The Defendants then cite decisions allowing retroactive application of statutes requiring a medical affidavit, altering the requirements of contribution, changing the burden of proof, changing *per se* rules, and changing provisions of the Evidence Code (Brief at 18-19). They assimilate these decisions to the dramatic substantive and procedural amendments that required dismissal of the Plaintiffs’ actions here. The Defendants make two arguments.

First, the Defendants contend (Brief at 19-20) that provisions of the Statute requiring proof of permanent health impairment; prescribing the measure of such proof; and specifying the measure of causation (only three of its many provisions) do nothing more than prescribe the elements of a *prima facie* showing, which is “plainly a procedural matter” that is “critical to the Act’s remedial purpose of preventing scarce resources from being consumed by persons who believe they have been exposed to asbestos but who suffer no actual impairment to their health.” The Third District Court said the same thing in *Hurst*--that the Statute only “sets forth the procedures a plaintiff must follow to file or maintain an

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